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Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Eastern District of Louisiana

CA 90 409 G
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Before POLI TZ, Chief Judge, DAVIS and JONES, Circuit Judges.
POLI TZ, Chief Judge:”’

(obtainingonly limted recovery in his maritinme suit, Louis J.
Sandr as appeal s a finding of contributory negligence and an adver se

evidentiary ruling. Finding no error, we affirm

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particular
cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes
needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the |egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



Backgr ound

Sandras and hi s conpani on, Rebecca Beene, were returning from
an afternoon of fishing on Bayou Bl ue in south Louisiana when their
16-foot fiberglass craft ran out of fuel. Sandras stopped the boat
in the channel to switch tanks. As they stopped, Beene spotted an
overt aki ng vessel sone 800 feet distant. She alerted Sandras, who
remai ned sangui ne, assum ng the vessel woul d change course. He was
m st aken. At the last instant the overtaking 18-foot wel ded
al um num boat owned by Terrebonne Wreline Service, Inc., swerved
but could not avoid a collision. Both Sandras and Beene sust ai ned
i njuries.

Beene and Sandras sued Terrebonne Wreline and the vessel
operator, Roland Pitre, for negligence under the general maritine
I aw. Beene settled her claim Sandras tried his to the bench
Apportioning fault 70 percent to defendants and 30 percent to
Sandras, the court awarded Sandras $56, 000 in general damages and
$11,882 in medical expenses. It denied an award for |ost incone,
refusing to admt Sandras' only evidence -- four years of unsigned

incone tax returns. Sandras tinely appeal ed.

Anal ysi s
In amritine case tried to the bench findings of negligence,
determ nations of causation, and allocation of fault are findings

of fact reviewable for clear error only.! W discern none.

!Gavagan v. United States, 955 F.2d 1016 (5th Cir. 1992);
Cele v. Wlson, 616 F.2d 146 (5th Cr. 1980).
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The district court found that both parties violated the Inland
Navi gati on Rul es? and hence were negligent. It also found that
their negligence jointly caused the collision. Wth respect to
Sandras, the court found that he had violated Rule 9 by stopping in
a navigable channel, Rule 2 by failing to check his fuel supply
before getting underway, and Rule 34 by failing to give a warning
signal to the Terrebonne Wreline vessel as it approached.® These
findings are not clearly erroneous.

Sandras, however, invokes two maritinme |aw presunptions: (1)
the presunption of fault against a noving vessel that strikes a
stationary object,* and (2) the rule of THE PENNSYLVANI A 5> The
presunption against a noving vessel that strikes a stationary
object raises a prim facie case of negligence.® The noving vessel

may rebut the presunption by proving that "it was without fault or

233 U.S.C. § 2001 et seq.

Rul e 9(g) prohibits anchoring in a narrow channel. Rule 2
generally requires the practice of safe procedures. Rule 34(d)
requi res warning signals when a vessel "is in doubt whether
sufficient action is being taken by the other [vessel] to avoid
collision . . . ." Sandras argues that Rule 33 exenpts snal
boats like his fromthe operation of Rule 34. He errs. Rule 33
exenpts snmall boats fromrequirenents for particular types of
war ni ng equi pnment but in place of such equi pnent requires "ot her
means of maeking an efficient sound signal."

‘Bunge Corp. v. MV FURNESS BRI DGE, 558 F.2d 790 (5th Cir.
1977), cert. denied sub nom Furness Wthy & Co., Ltd. v. Bunge
Corp., 435 U. S. 924 (1978).

°86 U.S. (19 wall.) 125, 22 L.Ed. 148 (1874), discussed in
Pennzoil Producing Co. v. Ofshore Express, Inc., 943 F. 2d 1465
(5th Gr. 1991).

Brown & Root Marine Operators, Inc. v. Zapata Of-Shore
Co., 377 F.2d 724 (5th Gr. 1967).

3



that the collision was occasioned by the fault of the stationary
object or was the result of inevitable accident."’ THE
PENNSYLVANI A rul e provi des that the negligence of a ship in actual
violation of a statutory rule intended to prevent collisions is
presuned to be a cause of the collision. The offending ship can
avoid liability only by proving that its negligence could not have
been a cause.® These presunptions do not avail in the case at bar.

Together the presunptions operate to Sandras' detrinent.
While the first presunption allows Sandras to nmake a prinma facie
case that the Terrebonne Wreline vessel was negligent for hitting
him the district court's finding that Sandras violated Inland
Navi gational Rul es by stopping his boat in a navigational channel
overcones the first presunption and, in accordance with THE
PENNSYLVANI A rul e, places on Sandras the heavy burden of proving
that his statutory negligence could not have been a cause of the
accident.® He did not acquit hinself of this burden.

Nor does the application of THE PENNSYLVANI A rul e agai nst
Terrebonne Wreline shield Sandras froma finding of contributory
negl i gence. The rule of THE PENNSYLVANI A allocates burden of
proof, not liability. Therefore, even

[i]f a party fails to carry the burden inposed on it by

the rule, the rule does not require that party to bear
100% of the responsibility for the allision. Liability

‘Bunge Corp., 558 F.2d at 795.

8Pennzoi | .
Cf. Illinois Constructors Corp. v. Logan Transportation,
Inc., 715 F. Supp. 872 (N.D.IIl. 1989).
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still nust be apportioned accordlng to the conparative
fault of the parties . :

Terrebonne Wreline did not prove that its negligence could not
have been a cause of the accident but this failure of proof does
not preclude inposition of a proportionate share of liability on
Sandr as.

Sandras al so contests the district court's refusal to admt
hi s unsigned incone tax returns into evidence. W find no abuse of
di scretion.' Even after the district court pointedly spelled out
t he i nadequaci es in his foundation, Sandras failed to showthat the
docunents proffered were true and correct copies of those which he
had indeed signed and filed with the Internal Revenue Service.
Such a showing is nore than a formality.'? Signing and filing a tax
return with the Internal Revenue Service triggers exposure to
crimnal penalties,?® giving the docunent an indicia of
trustworthi ness warranting adm ssion into evidence. The district
court did not err in excluding the purported tax returns.

AFFI RVED.

YPennzoi |, 943 F.2d at 1472.

1See Harrell v. DCS EqU|pnent Leasing Corp., 951 F.2d 1453
(5th Gir. 1992) (district court's decision to exclude evidence is
reviewed for abuse of discretion).

2United States v. Thetford, 676 F.2d 170 (5th Cr. 1982),
cert. denied, 459 U S. 1148 (1983).

13See, e.qg., 26 U.S.C. 8§7206(1).
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